Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-7-2017

Brooks v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44634

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a premises liability case arising from a slip and fall accident which occurred in a Wal-Mart store on Overland Road in Boise, Idaho. The Appellant, Diane Brooks, an invitee, slipped and fell on a puddle of water while being escorted to the garden department by a Wal-Mart employee. The accident occurred in July of 2013.

B. <u>Course of Proceedings</u>

Ms. Brooks filed her complaint against Wal-Mart on November 19, 2014. R. 12-16. Wal-Mart filed its Answer on December 15, 2014. R. 17-24. Discovery thereafter commenced. Wal-Mart contended in discovery that Rug Doctor, LLC may have been negligent. R. 34-36. On June 30, 2015, Ms. Brooks sought leave to file an amended complaint. R. 34-47. The district court granted Ms. Brooks permission to amend her complaint on July 2, 2015, and she did so on July 7, 2015. R. 48-58. Rug Doctor, LLC answered the Amended Complaint on July 28, 2015. R. 69-72.

On March 2, 2016, both Wal-Mart and Rug Doctor filed motions for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Ms. Brooks' claims in their entirety. R. 178-179, 266-279. The motions were briefed and oral argument was heard on March 31, 2016. R. 7. On April 11, 2016, the district court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order Granting Summary Judgment for Wal-Mart Inc. and Denying Summary Judgment for Rug Doctor, LLC.* R. 880-902.

1

On April 25, 2016, Ms. Brooks filed a motion for reconsideration asking the district court to reconsider and reverse its decision to dismiss her claims against Wal-Mart. R. 955-969. On April 27, 2016, Rug Doctor filed a motion for clarification/reconsideration, again seeking the dismissal of Ms. Brooks' claims against it. R. 998-1018. On May 19, 2016, the district court heard oral arguments related to Rug Doctor's and Ms. Brooks' motions for reconsideration, among various other motions. R. 10.

On June 22, 2016, the district court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order Denying Reconsideration* denying both motions to reconsider. R. 1187-1216. On October 7, 2016, Ms. Brooks and Rug Doctor resolved the remaining claims and stipulated to dismissal of that action. An Order of Dismissal and Final Judgment was issued by the district court on October 17, 2016. R. 11.

On November 18, 2016, Ms. Brooks timely filed her appeal of the district court's decision to dismiss Ms. Brooks' claims against Wal-Mart. R. 1226-1233.

C. Statement of Facts

1. The Rental Process of a Rug Doctor Carpet Cleaning Machine.

In August of 2011, Wal-Mart entered into a Vendor Agreement with Rug Doctor, LLC which allowed Rug Doctor to place its carpet cleaning machines into Wal-Mart stores and offer them for rent to Wal-Mart customers. R. 678-697. The record is not clear as to when the Rug Doctor machines were first introduced into the Wal-Mart store on Overland Road in Boise,

where the incident at issue in this case occurred.¹ The Vendor Agreement required the machines to be offered to customers through an automated self- serve rental process. R. 678.

Spencer Hinkle was Rug Doctor's local account manager. He serviced approximately sixty-eight accounts in the Treasure Valley area, which he described as spanning from Mountain Home to Caldwell, Idaho. Of those, nine were Wal-Mart Stores. R. 631-632 (Hinkle Depo, 15:6-17:4). Mr. Hinkle testified that the self-serve method of operation only existed at Wal-Mart. R. 632 (Hinkle Depo, 17:1-4). In other words, all other accounts, including Albertsons, Fred Meyer, Ace, and other independent store locations, a store employee was involved in the rent and return process. R. 631-632.

When renting the machine on a self-serve basis, the customer interacts with a computer screen on the kiosk which lays out the rental agreement between Rug-Doctor and the user. R. 643 (Hinkle Depo, 61:13-63:11), *see also*, R. 690. The customer electronically signs a rental agreement, pays for the machine by credit card, and then access is electronically given to one of the bins where a machine is located. R. 690. The customer is not provided a copy of the rental agreement unless they request that it be emailed to them. R. 643-644 (Hinkle Depo, 63:16-65:3); *see also*, R. 690. Upon return, the customer scans his/her credit card and an available bin opens and the customer puts the machine back. R. 690.

According to the instructions, a user of the Rug Doctor machine is directed to create their own cleaning solution by mixing a gallon of water with a cleaning agent. R. 635 (Hinkle Depo,

¹ Spence Hinkle was deposed in February of 2016. He testified that the machines were introduced into the Treasure Valley Wal-Mart Stores some 2 ½ to 3 years prior. R. 649.

30:3-31:10). The user then pours that solution into a water basin in the machine. *Id.* Each machine can hold up to two gallons of water and cleaning solution. *Id.* When turned on, the machine uses suction power to cycle the cleaning solution into the carpet (or upholstery), through various hoses, couplers, and nozzles. R. 635-637 (Hinkle Depo, 30:3-31:10, 34:23-39:2). The cleaning solution is then suctioned back out of the carpet and returned to a different catch basin. *Id.* The couplers and hoses are secured with metal fasteners. *Id.*

Mr. Hinkle was asked during his deposition about whether machines could leak or spill water. He testified as follows:

Q. Have you ever heard of nozzles leaking from the bottom of a machine?

A. Yes.

Q. So it's something that does happen?

A. It could.

Q. Are there other places on the machine that you are aware of where water can leak?

A. Yes.

Q. Where would that be?

A. It could leak from the tank, could leak from the bottom.

R. 636 (Hinkle Depo, 33:3-13).

Mr. Hinkle testified that water can leak if couplers or hoses break down from normal wear and tear. Mr. Hinkle testified that residual water can leak if a hose or the return basin is not

4

properly attached. R. 637 (Hinkle Depo, 38:18-39:25). There are two basins that hold the liquids,

one clean, the other dirty. Mr. Hinkle testified about the basins as follows:

- Q. Have there been occasions, Mr. Hinkle, when you have arrived at one of these self-service kiosks with the intent of servicing the machines and you've pulled them out and they haven't been cleaned?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Have there been times when you've pulled these machines out and there is still water in the basin?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Have you had times where there has been -- and maybe you don't notice this, I don't know what you do -- but has there been water in the hoses?
 - A. Yes.

* * *

- Q. Has the manner in which clean water is put into the lower basin changed since 2013?
- A. No.
- Q. And the way that that's done, as I understand it is, is there a return basin -- well, let's me ask you: What do you call that return bucket or basin?
- A. Reservoir bucket.
- Q. So the reservoir bucket is where the dirty water comes in?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And in order to put the cleaning solution into the lower basin, that dirty water reservoir has to be removed?
- A. Yes.

- Q. And the way that that's removed is there is a -- well, how is it attached to the machine?
- A. A metal bracket.
- Q. So the metal bracket is removed --
- A. Released.
- Q. -- released, and then the reservoir basin is taken off, and then the clean-water solution is put into the lower basin, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And then the reservoir bucket or basin is then put back on the machine and the bracket is replaced?
- A. Yes.
- Q. At any point in time when you've serviced machines after they've been returned have you seen machines where the bracket on the reservoir bucket has not been put back on securely?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Have you seen situations where it's not been put on at all?
- A. Yes.
- Q. I'm assuming you've seen situations where it's maybe not even been there?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And have you seen situations where there's been water in the reservoir bucket?
- A. Yes.

R. 637-638. (Hinkle Depo, 40:11-22, 41:17-43).

In responding to questions from Wal-Mart's counsel regarding leaks, Mr. Hinkle testified

as follows:

Q. (BY MS. MULLER) Now, we talked about that there's different ways that a machine could leak water. If a machine is picked up -- let's say a machine is returned to the store, and it has water that's not been completely emptied out of it, if the machine is picked up and tilted, how likely is it that water is going to come out?

MS. MAGNELLI: Object to form.

MS. MULLER: Let me ask this differently.

Q. (BY MS. MULLER) Let me first ask you this: Let's say a machine has been returned to the store, the reservoir basin -- well, all of the buckets that could contain water have been emptied, but maybe there's some residual drops of water -- if that machine is picked up and tilted, would you expect any water to come out of that machine?

MR. BUSH: Objection; lack of foundation, incomplete hypothetical.

Q. (BY MS. MULLER) You can go ahead and answer.

- A. Oh, answer?
- Q. Yes.
- A. Yes.
- Q. You would expect that water could still come out, some of the residual?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Have you lifted up machines and tilted them before?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And have you had water come out of them when you've tilted them?
- A. Yes.

- Q. So if there's more than just some residual water -- and let's say a customer had not emptied it after using it -- and that machine is picked up and tilted, then, again, would you expect water to come out of it?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now, if the machine is not lifted up and not tilted, but is just pulled to be transported between the kiosk and a vehicle, in your experience, when you've pulled these machines, have you had any water that's ended up on the floor?
- A. No.
- Q. When you're servicing the machine do you look for potential leaks?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And when you've been servicing the machines, have you found problems that have indicated that there's a leak?
 - A. Yes.
- Q. And on those machines when you've transported them -- and when I'm talking about "those machines," I'm talking about the ones that you've identified these potential leaks -- when you've transported them from the kiosk to your vehicle, have you noticed any water that's ended up on the floor?
- A. Yes.

R. 650-651 (Hinkle Depo, 92:20-95:1).

The record reflects that the rental process of Rug Doctor machines at Wal-Mart was selfserve and unsupervised. No Wal-Mart employee had a responsibility to interact with either Mr. Hinkle or customers renting Rug Doctor machines from the kiosk. R. 594, 603 (Walker Depo, 19:12-20:4, 55:2-23). That necessarily meant that no employee would be responsible to inspect the Rug Doctor machines to determine if they were clean or dirty upon a rental return. R. 603 (Walker Depo, 55:2-23). No Walmart employee was responsible to determine if a Rug Doctor machine still had liquid in it when rented, or returned. *Id.* No Wal-Mart employee was responsible to inspect the Rug Doctor machines to determine if they leaked. *Id.*

Rug Doctor split the rental and cleaning product fees with Wal-Mart. R. 633 (Hinkle Depo, 23:23-24:6). In the typical arrangement with other stores, Mr. Hinkle would provide training to store employees who were involved in the rental and return process. R. 642 (Hinkle Depo, 58:5-18). Training for the employee-assisted rental process included how to operate the machine, how to fill out paperwork, what chemicals to use, and how to sell the chemicals. *Id.* Mr. Hinkle testified that he provided no training to the Overland Wal-Mart personnel nor was he ever asked by anyone at that location to provide training. R. 642 (Hinkle Depo, 27:21-24, 59:13-22).

2. <u>The Accident.</u>

On July 24, 2013, Diane Brooks went to Wal-Mart on Overland Road in Boise, Idaho to buy several bags of wood chips. R. 315 (Brooks Depo, 40:19-41:1). Ms. Brooks entered the store through the front and, upon finding the garden area of the store locked, she was directed to the customer service department for information about wood chips. R. 315-316 (Brooks Depo, 41:22-42:5). At the customer service department, a Wal-Mart employee, Johnathan Steele, agreed to assist her in finding wood chips. R. 316 (Brooks Depo, 42:5-9). As Mr. Steele escorted Ms. Brooks along the front of the store near the cashiers, Ms. Brooks slipped and fell. R. 316 (Brooks Depo, 42:10-12).

Subsequent investigation by Wal-Mart employees documented that the Ms. Brooks had slipped on puddle of water. Mr. Steele saw water on the floor. R. 579. Jamie Oster, a Wal-Mart

employee who responded to Ms. Brooks' fall, noted that "when arriving there Diane was laying on the floor in front of the Rug Doctor. Water from a Rug Doctor machine was on the floor near her legs." R. 452 (Oster Depo, 18:25-19:8). When asked how she determined where the water came from, Ms. Oster stated "[f]rom what I remember the way the water was on the floor, or the liquid substance that we're talking about, it appeared as to have come towards the Rug Doctor Machine, the way it was running on the floor." R. 456 (Oster Depo, 36:9-18). When the store manager, Jason Walker, arrived, he also noticed Ms. Brooks laying in water. R. 477 (Walker Depo, 25:2-11).

The incident was captured on video. The video reflects that approximately ten minutes before Ms. Brooks slipped and fell, another Wal-Mart customer ("the Renter") had initiated the Rug Doctor rental process. *See*, Video Excerpt, 0:00-5:35, DVD marked as Ex. A to Bush Aff. in Opp. to Defs. MSJs. The Renter pulled a Rug Doctor machine out of the bin, and then lifted, carried and tilted the machine into an empty shopping cart, albeit with some difficulty. *Id.* The Renter then left the area. *Id.*

Approximately six minutes after the Renter left the area, the video shows Ms. Brooks walking down the aisle way accompanied by Mr. Steele. *Id.* Her right foot slipped and she fell to the ground. *Id.* A screen shot photograph was made from the video showing where the Renter lifted, tilted and placed the Rug Doctor machine into the shopping cart. R. 675. A similar screen shot photograph was made of the location where Ms. Brooks' right foot first began to slip. R. 676. An overlay of those photographs reflected that the location of Ms. Brooks' incident was

essentially in the exact spot where the Renter lifted and tilted the Rug Doctor machine into the shopping cart, a fact noted by the district court. R. 895.

Ms. Brooks suffered, *inter alia*, a serious and permanent knee injury which required surgery and ultimately, a knee replacement. R. 318, 321-322 (Brooks Depo, 53:4-19, 62:1-22, 63:14-64:23, 67:4-68:21).

3. <u>Wal-Mart Safety Policies.</u>

Mr. Walker conceded that Wal-Mart customers had a right to expect that the Overland Wal-Mart would provide a safe environment. R. 486 (Walker Depo, 60:9-61:19). He further conceded that in doing so, it was incumbent on Wal-Mart to anticipate slip and fall areas before slip and fall accidents occurred. *Id.* Specifically, Wal-Mart's "Slip, Trip and Fall Guidelines" in place at the time of Ms. Brooks fall required Wal-Mart employees to "[1]ocate and maintain floor mats in areas where liquids can cause a slip and fall hazard such as in produce, in front of the bagged ice freezers and the vestibule." R. 487 (Walker Depo, 62:23-63:16). During his deposition, Mr. Walker elaborated on this policy as follows:

- Q. My question is this: If I read this guideline correctly, one of the things that it's asking the stores to do is to locate areas where liquids can cause a slip-and-fall hazard, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And that's to locate or anticipate those areas before a slip-and-fall actually occurs, fair?

A. Yes.

* * *

11

- Q. Would you agree that the safety protocol at Walmart is to continually anticipate areas of the store which can present potential slip-and-fall hazards?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And that's particularly true, is it not, in what I think your policies refer to as "high-traffic areas"?
- A. Yes.

R. 487 (Walker Depo, 63:17-24, 65:8-15).

Mr. Walker testified that he did not know if there was a Wal-Mart employee responsible to assess whether the Rug Doctor machines could affect the safety environment for customers. R. 482 (Walker Depo, 43:1-5). In fact, Wal-Mart stated in discovery that it had "no personal knowledge" as to how the rental process worked. R. 672-673. Mr. Walker admitted that he does not know how Wal-Mart could have assessed whether the Rug Doctor machines posed a potential slip and fall hazard without knowing if the machines could leak or spill water during the rental process. R. 489 (Walker Depo, 70:3-16).

All Wal-Mart employees are required to keep an eye out for safety type issues in areas they work and perform visual "safety sweeps." R. 481-483 (Walker Depo, 40:3-10, 44:2-9, 46:25-47:6). Among other things, Wal-Mart's maintenance associates were tasked with the specific responsibility of performing "safety sweeps" of high-traffic areas and cleaning up spills throughout the day. *Id.* All other Wal-Mart associates are tasked with the responsibility to perform visual "safety-sweeps" as they are performing their regular job duties in the areas they have been assigned by being alert and looking around. *Id.* Essentially, Wal-Mart operated on a

clean-as-you-go method with each employee being constantly vigilant for spills and other safety issues. R. 481-483, 485 (Walker Depo, 40:3-48:24, 55:19-56-23). However, Wal-Mart kept no record as to whether routine sweeps were actually done, nor is there any evidence that Wal-Mart keeps records of where spills were located and cleaned. R. 484 (Walker Depo, 50:8-11).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The district court determined, in the proceedings below, that Rug Doctor machines could leak or spill liquid onto the floor of the Wal-Mart store which would create a potentially dangerous condition. The district court also found, in the proceedings below, that there were triable issues of fact as to whether it was reasonably foreseeable to Rug Doctor that the machine would or could leak or spill liquid during the self-serve rental process. The district court, however, refused to apply those findings to Wal-Mart.

The first issue on appeal is whether Wal-Mart is charged with knowledge of the foreseeable hazards created by the products and self-serve operations it selects.

The second issue on appeal is, assuming the district court properly applied the law, whether it erred by failing to find material issues of fact as to Wal-Mart's constructive notice of the particular spill in light of the evidence.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On an appeal of a district court's decision granting a motion for summary judgment, the Idaho Supreme Court uses the same standard as the trial court when ruling on motions for summary judgment. *Shea v. Kevic Corp.*, 156 Idaho 540, 544, 328 P.3d 520, 524 (2014). "Under I.R.C.P. Rule 56, summary judgment is proper 'if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on

13

file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.'" *Id.* (quoting I.R.C.P. Rule 56(c)). The moving party bears the initial burden of establishing there are no genuine issues of a material fact such that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* (citations omitted). If the moving party meets that burden, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party who then must be able to establish that there are indeed genuine issues of material fact. *Id.* (citations omitted). In making its decision, the reviewing court must "construe the record in the light most favorable to the [nonmoving party], [and draw] all reasonable inferences in that party's favor." *Id.* (citations omitted). However, the nonmoving party must be able to set forth specific facts establishing a genuine issue for trial, rather than merely relying on allegations from the pleadings. *Shea v. Kevic Corp.*, at 544-545, 328 P.3d at 524-525 (citations omitted). The nonmoving party may establish a genuine issue of material fact through circumstantial evidence, but may not rely upon a "mere scintilla of evidence." *Id.* at 545, 328 P.3d at 525 (citation omitted).

The reviewing court exercises "free review in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists." *Antim v. Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.*, 150 Idaho 774, 776, 251 P.3d 602, 604 (Ct. App. 2011). This Court also exercises de novo review over district court decisions related to motions for reconsideration. *Shea*, 156 Idaho at 545, 328 P.3d at 525.

- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Wal-Mart is Charged with Knowledge of the Foreseeable Hazards</u> <u>Created by the Products and Self-Serve Operations it Selects</u>.

1. <u>Wal-Mart has a General Duty to Keep the Premises Safe and Exercise</u> <u>Reasonable Care to Discover Potentially Dangerous Conditions.</u>

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