Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-26-2017

Brooks v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44634

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Did Not Err in Distinguishing the Law as to Negligent Operating Methods and Holding that the Spill Was an Isolated Incident.

In order for a retail store such as Wal-Mart to be liable for an injury that an invitee sustains on the premises, the injured invitee must prove: "(1) a duty, recognized by law, requiring a defendant to conform to a certain standard of conduct; (2) a breach of that duty; (3) a causal connection between the defendant's conduct and the resulting injuries; and (4) actual loss

or damage." *Shea*, 156 Idaho at 548, 328 P.3d at 528.³ To meet this burden and withstand a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party must present admissible record evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact as to a breach of a legally recognizable duty. *Id.*

There are two kinds of duties a landlord may owe to an invitee: (a) a duty "to warn of any concealed dangers which the landowner knows of or should have known of upon reasonable investigation of the land," and (b) a duty "to keep the premises reasonably safe," i.e., free from dangerous conditions. *Stem*, 152 Idaho at 594, 272 P.3d at 566. The duty owed by a landlord is one of ordinary care, not a heightened or special duty. *Tommerup v. Albertson's Inc.*, 101 Idaho 1, 3, 607 P.2d 1055, 1057 (1980), *overruled on other grounds by Harrison v. Taylor*, 115 Idaho 588, 768 P.2d 1321 (1989). To prove the existence of a duty, an invitee must "show that the landowner knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known, of the alleged dangerous condition," i.e., "actual or constructive notice." *Shea*, 156 Idaho at 548, 328 P.3d at 528. This is true regardless of whether the dangerous condition is an isolated incident or a recurring condition actively created by an operating method. *Id.* at 548-49, 328 P.3d at 528-29.

Evidence sufficient to support a finding of notice is different for a case involving an isolated incident than for a case involving a recurring condition actively created by an operating method. In an isolated incident case, there must be actual or constructive notice of the "specific condition" causing the alleged injury. *Shea*, 156 Idaho at 548, 328 P.3d at 528. In a recurring condition case, there must be actual or constructive notice that "operating methods

³ The parties agree that Ms. Brooks was an invitee of Wal-Mart.

caused or were likely to cause a dangerous condition." *Id.* Under either theory, proof of notice is never excused because it is notice combined with a failure to act that leads to negligence.

In this case, Ms. Brooks failed to present admissible evidence that the liquid on the floor that led to her fall was a recurring condition caused by an operating method of the Overland store. There was no evidence that there had been other incidents of liquid on the floor in that particular area of the store or that a machine from the Rug Doctor kiosk was in fact the actual cause of liquid on the floor. Accordingly, the district court did not err in finding that this case involved an isolated incident, such that Ms. Brooks had the burden of proving actual or constructive notice of the specific dangerous condition.

1. This case does not involve a recurring or easily foreseeable dangerous condition actively created by an operating method.

This Court has recognized that a duty may arise from an operating method where there is evidence that the landowner had a habit of creating a foreseeably unsafe condition or allowing an unsafe condition to develop or exist over a period of time. See Shea, 156 Idaho at 549-51, 328 P.3d at 529-31; Ball v. City of Blackfoot, 152 Idaho 673, 677-78, 273 P.3d 1266, 1270-71 (2012); All v. Smith's Mgmt. Corp., 109 Idaho 479, 481, 708 P.2d 884, 886 (1985); McDonald v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 109 Idaho 305, 308, 707 P.2d 416, 419 (1985); Mann v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 95 Idaho 732, 518 P.2d 1194 (1974). In these cases, the dangerous condition is not a singular and unexpected event. Rather, it is something that has been recurring or is reasonably likely to be recurring over a period of time, thereby creating a reasonable likelihood that the landowner had notice of the type of condition causing injury.

12

For example, in *Shea*, an invitee brought a premises liability claim against the operator of a car wash, Kevic Corp., alleging injury after slipping on ice at the exit of the car wash. 156 Idaho at 543, 328 P.3d at 523. In response to a motion for summary judgment, the injured invitee presented evidence demonstrating that the operator had "knowledge of the 'continuous formation' of ice buildup at the car wash exit at certain times during the winter months." *Id.* at 551, 328 P.3d at 531 (emphasis added). This Court found this evidence sufficient to create an issue of fact, holding that the invitee could establish liability by showing that ice "generally forms" on cold days when vehicles track water out of the car wash, and that the car wash operator knew of this recurring condition. *Id.*

In *Ball*, an invitee brought a premises liability claim against the City of Blackfoot after slipping and falling on ice that had accumulated on a sidewalk between a municipal swimming pool and parking lot. 152 Idaho at 674, 273 P.3d at 1267. In response to a motion for summary judgment, the injured invitee presented evidence that the city had a "*habit* of plowing parking lot snow onto the grass beside the sidewalk caus[ing] excess snow melt to run onto the sidewalk where it subsequently froze, creating especially icy sidewalk conditions." *Id.* at 678, 273 P.3d at 1271 (emphasis added). The invitee also presented evidence that another patron had advised the pool manager of the icy conditions and not seeing subsequent application of ice melt. *Id.* This Court concluded that the invitee had created an issue of fact as to whether the city breached a duty to maintain the sidewalk in a reasonably safe condition. *Id.*

In All, an invitee brought a premises liability claim against a retailer, Smith's Management, Inc., and the owner of a parking lot, Shelby's Park Center, after falling in a pothole

in a store parking lot. 109 Idaho at 480, 708 P.2d at 885. At trial, the invitee presented evidence that the parking lot owner was aware of the deteriorating condition of the parking lot and had been filling in holes with gravel until the lot could be repaved. *Id.* This Court found this evidence sufficient to withstand defendants' motion for directed verdict, concluding that the invitee did not need to prove constructive knowledge of the specific pothole causing the fall. *Id.* at 482, 708 P.2d at 887. Because potholes were a continuous and foreseeable consequence of operating methods, the invitee could establish liability by proving constructive knowledge of the "continuous formation" of potholes. *Id.* (emphasis added).

In *McDonald*, an invitee brought a premises liability claim against a retailer, Safeway Stores, Inc., alleging injury after slipping on melted ice cream in a store. 109 Idaho at 306, 707 P.2d at 417. She supported her claim with evidence that the store conducted an ice cream demonstration on a busy day with abnormally large crowds and that it handed out ice cream cones to customers, including children and infants. *Id.* at 307, 707 P.2d at 418. This Court concluded that the melted ice cream was not an isolated incident but was instead a foreseeable risk of harm "*actively created*" in the store's course of business of handing out ice cream cones to kids, who consumed them there on the premises. *Id.* at 308, 707 P.2d at 419 (emphasis added).

In reaching its decision in *McDonald*, this Court looked to a case from Colorado for guidance, *Jasko v. F.W. Woolworth Co.*, 494 P.2d 839 (Colo. 1972). The Colorado Supreme Court concluded that pizza on the ground was not an isolated incident where the food came from a company's method of selling individual slices of pizza, delivered on wax paper, for customers

to consume immediately while standing. Jasko, 494 P.2d at 840. The practice of distributing food in that manner was held to create a "reasonable probability" that food would drop to the floor, as further evidenced by porters "constantly" sweeping up debris from the floor. Id. (emphasis added). Just as pizza being sold for immediate consumption actively created a risk of food on the ground, so too ice cream being handed out for immediate consumption actively created a risk of food on the ground. McDonald, 109 Idaho at 308, 707 P.2d at 419. In other words, food on the ground is likely to be a recurring condition when it is being distributed for immediate consumption, especially to infants.⁴

Although the facts of the *McDonald* case place it in the "operating methods" category rather than the "isolated incident" category, this categorical placement did not negate the invitee's obligation to prove actual or constructive notice. To support a finding of

⁴ In § IV.C of Appellant's Brief, Ms. Brooks asks this Court to define "easily foreseeable" as requiring a retailer to assess and understand risk associated with products and operating methods. Such a definition is nonsensical. Every product and operating method arguably has some risk, and the mere potential for something to go wrong does not automatically make a dangerous condition easily foreseeable. For example, there is a possibility that the tops on certain shampoo bottles will pop open and that shampoo will spill on the floor. If the possibility of shampoo ending up on the floor of a coffee aisle is unlikely, a retailer's understanding of the possibility does not make shampoo on the floor of the coffee aisle easily or reasonably foreseeable. What is easily foreseeable, as illustrated in the *McDonald* and *Jasko* cases, is when there is a likelihood that the dangerous condition will be recurring, that it will happen more than once. As noted in the opening paragraph of this brief, Ms. Brooks' incident was the first and only one of its kind at the Overland store.

To further put it in perspective, any retail store like Wal-Mart would have, at any one time, thousands upon thousands of vessels (products) containing liquid in its store—bottles, cans, tubes, jugs, tubs, which might fall, break, or leak. Its customers bring in still hundreds more, e.g., water bottles for drinking. The mere possibility that something might fall, break, or leak is an insufficient predicate for legal liability.

constructive notice, the plaintiff presented evidence that it takes "an hour or two" for ice cream to fully melt, thereby indicating that the melted ice cream had been on the floor for a substantial period of time. *Id.* at 310, 707 P.2d at 421. This Court concluded that a jury could find that the store had constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and affirmed the district court's denial of summary judgment and the motion for directed verdict. *Id.*

This case is distinguishable from each of the above cases because it does not involve a recurring or likely to be recurring dangerous condition that was actively created by the Overland store. There is no evidence that the Overland store had a business operation or habit of doing something that caused a continuous formation of liquid on the floor. There is no evidence that the Overland store was handing out or selling liquids in open containers for immediate consumption or use in the vicinity where Ms. Brooks fell. There is no evidence of a recurring problem with liquid on the floor from customers' handling of Rug Doctor products.

Notwithstanding this lack of evidence, Ms. Brooks tries to force this case into the operating methods category of cases, pointing to Mr. Hinkle's deposition for evidence that Rug Doctor machines might possibly leak. Mr. Hinkle, who serviced the Rug Doctor machines at the Overland store, as well as machines at approximately 125 other stores in and outside the Treasure Valley, only had about 20 machines leak over the course of eight years. R. 630 (12:22-24); R. 631 (15:6-8); R. 651 (94:6-20). Considering that Mr. Hinkle visits between 28 and 36 stores per week and services approximately three to six machines at each store, the

number of machines that have leaked is *de minimis*. R. 650 (90:19 – 91:1).⁵ The only conclusion that can be drawn from this testimony is that there is an extremely remote possibility of a Rug Doctor machine leaking at any one of 126 stores. Notice of this mere possibility is not tethered to Wal-Mart on this record. Ms. Brooks has not offered any authority, either in law or fact, to impute the knowledge of Rug Doctor or Mr. Hinkle to Wal-Mart. *See Stem*, 152 Idaho at 594, 272 P.3d at 566 (affirming summary judgment in favor of a landowner in the absence of evidence that he "had any knowledge of the weight bearing capacity of the water meter covers, or any training or experience that would give him such knowledge.").

The mere possibility of a Rug Doctor machine leaking is not evidence that a leak is likely to occur even once, let alone multiple times, in the Overland store.⁶ No retailer is an absolute guarantor that remote events will never happen on their premises. Wal-Mart's use of the Rug Doctor kiosk only leads to liability if the use results in a recurring or likely to reoccur

⁵ If Mr. Hinkle serviced an average of 7,800 machines per each of his eight years, as indicated by his route at the time of his deposition, Mr. Hinkle's experience of approximately 20 machines leaking while being transported out of a store indicates a .00032% chance of a machine leaking during transport.

⁶ Whether Ms. Brooks was able to create an issue of fact as to Rug Doctor's liability with evidence of a possibility is irrelevant to the analysis of whether the evidence supports a finding that Wal-Mart owed Ms. Brooks a duty related to use of the Rug Doctor kiosk. Ms. Brooks tries to make the possibility of a leak relevant by arguing that the district court found material questions of fact as to whether the operating process created a foreseeable risk of harm. Appellant's Brief at 24. The district court actually found, in relation to the negligence claim against Rug Doctor, a material issue of fact as to whether it was foreseeable that a Rug Doctor machine could cause an injury and whether Rug Doctor LLC exercised its duty to use reasonable care to avoid Plaintiff's injury. R. 893. The standard the district court used for determining whether Plaintiff has a non-premises liability negligence claim against Rug Doctor is different from the standard that determines whether Wal-Mart, as a retailer, owed Ms. Brooks a duty. Accordingly, the finding as to Rug Doctor is irrelevant.

dangerous condition. Ms. Brooks did not establish that a Rug Doctor machine ever leaked in the Overland store or that there was an actual likelihood of a Rug Doctor machine leaking.

Beyond arguing that a duty should arise because a possibility of a leak existed, Ms. Brooks goes a step further and seeks to impose a duty on Wal-Mart based on unsubstantiated allegations that Wal-Mart should have known the operation details of Rug Doctor's self-service kiosk. Nothing in Idaho law conditions premises liability on what a retailer knew or should have known about the operations of a self-service kiosk. Ms. Brooks has not provided any legal authority to support a change in the law. In reality, whether Wal-Mart knew or should have known about the operations of and remote risks associated with the Rug Doctor business is irrelevant because it does not evidence whether the machines rented from the kiosk at issue here resulted in or were actually likely to result in a dangerous condition.

Trying to fit this case into the operating methods category is like trying to put a square peg in a round hole. It does not fit. Because Ms. Brooks does not have admissible record evidence that incidents of liquid on the floor in the action alley had occurred in the past, or were likely to occur in the future, as a result of Wal-Mart's decision to use a self-service kiosk, the district court did not err in deciding that this case is not in the same category as *McDonald*, *Jasko*, and *Shea*, which involved a recurring or likely to recur dangerous condition from an operating method.

2. This case involves an isolated dangerous condition.

Where there is no evidence that a condition is recurring or likely to recur as a result of an operating method, then the case is placed in the isolated incident category.

Dangerous conditions "may arise temporarily in any place of business," and the mere existence of a temporary condition is not evidence that it has resulted from an operating method.

Tommerup, 101 Idaho at 4, 607 P.2d at 1058 (quoting Jasko, 494 P.2d at 840-41).

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